Agreement between

Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government



and

The Public Service Alliance of Canada

(Local 80035)



Public Service Alliance of Canada Alliance de la Fonction publique du Canada

Expiry date: March 31, 2009

12995 (02)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Article</u>	<u>Subject</u> <u>Page</u>
1	PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT5
2	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS5
3	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS5
4	RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT WORK8
5	UNION REPRESENTATIVES10
6	USE OF EMPLOYER FACILITIES10
7	EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION11
8	CHECK-OFF11
9	INFORMATION12
10	STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS12
11	NO DISCRIMINATION13
12	SEXUALHARRASSMENT13
13	DESIGNATED PAID HOLIDAYS14
14	VACATION LEAVE15
15	LEAVE WITH OR WITHOUT PAY FOR UNION BUSINESS18
16	OTHER LEAVE WITH OR WITHOUT PAY19
17	SICK LEAVE27
18	JOB SECURITY28
19	SEVERANCE PAY, LAYOFF AND RECALL28
20	SENIORITY30
21	EMPLOYEE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE FILES31
22	PAY ADMINISTRATION32
23	TRAVEL TIME, SCHEDULING & EXPENSES33
24	SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE34

25	HEALTH AND SAFETY35
2 6	STAFFING PROCEDURES39
27	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE41
28	HOURS OF WORK, INCLUDING REST PERIODS, MEAL PERIODS AND DAYS OF REST.,44
29	OVERTIME45
30	REPORTING, CALL- BACK AND STANDBY PAY46
31	WASH • UP TIME47
32	PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIP, REGISTRATION AND LICENCE FEES47
33	JOINT-UNION MANAGEMENT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE47
34	AGREEMENT RE-OPENER48
35	EDUCATION LEAVE AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT LEAVE48
36	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE49
37	JOB DESCRIPTIONS51
38	GROUP BENEFIT PLANS51
3 9	MODIFIED DUTIES52
40	DURATION AND RENEWAL52
41	RETROACTIVE SALARY PAYMENTS53
LETT	ER OF UNDERTANDING #155
	LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÓPETÍTJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT AND THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA CONCERNING THE EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW SYSTEM
LETT	ER OF UNDERTANDING #256
	LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT AND THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA CONCERNING THE JOINT DEVELOPMENT OF A JOB EVALUATION PLAN
LETT	ER OF UNDERSTANDING # 359
	LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT AND THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA CONCERNING A

WORKPLACE HARASSMENT POLICY

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING# 4	60
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE BURNT CHURCH (ESGENO NATION GOVERNMENT AND THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANACLASSIFICATION SYSTEM	,
SCHEDULE "A"	61
EDUCATION/TEACHER	
APPENDIX "A"	67
RATES OF PAY	
APPENDIX "B"	73
RATES PAY / TEACHERS	
APPENDIX "C"	74
RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES - PRINCIPALS	
APPENDIX "D"	75
WAGE SCHEDULE - SOCIAL WORKERS	
APPENDIX "E"	77
WAGE SCHEDULE • COMMUNITY HEALTH NURSES	

PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

- 1.01 The purpose of this agreement is to maintain harmonious and mutually beneficial relationships between the Employer, the Union and the employees and to set forth herein certain terms and conditions of employment upon which agreement has been reached through collective bargaining and to provide an appropriate procedure for the prompt resolution of grievances and disagreements on the interpretation of the collective agreement.
- 1.02 This agreement applies to and is binding on the Union, the employees, the Employer and its representatives.

ARTICLE 2

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

2.01 The Union recognizes that all functions of management, unless expressly and specifically limited by the terms of this Collective Agreement, are specifically reserved to and vested exclusively in the Employer. It is understood that the Employer will exercise its management rights reasonably, fairly and consistent with the terms of the collective agreement.

ARTICLE 3

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

3.01 For the purpose of this Agreement:

"Alliance" means the Public Service Alliance of Canada and Local 80035 of the PSAC;

"bargaining unit" means the employees of the Employer in the Group described in Article 4;

"compensatory leave" means leave with pay in lieu of cash payment for overtime, work performed on a designated holiday, travelling time compensated at overtime rate, call back and reporting pay. The duration of such leave will be equal to the time compensated or the minimum time entitlement, multiplied by the applicable overtime rate. The rate of pay to which an employee is entitled during such leave shall be based on the employee's hourly rate of pay as calculated from the classification prescribed in the employee's certificate of appointment on the day immediately prior to the day on which leave is taken;

5.

"continuous service" means an uninterrupted employment with Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government;

"day of rest" means a day other than a holiday or a day of leave of absence, on which the employee is not ordinarily required to perform the duties of the position;

"dependant" means:

- i) the spouse of an employee who is residing with the employee,
- ii) any child of the employee who:
 - is attending school or is a student at some other institution, and is under 21 years; or
 - b) is under 21 years and dependant upon the employee for support; or
 - c) is 21 or older and dependant upon the employee because of mental or physical illness, or
- iii) any other relative of the employee who is a member of the employee's household and is totally dependant upon the employee for support because of a mental or physical illness.

"Employer" means Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government and includes any person authorized to exercise the authority of the Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government;

"employee" means a member of the bargaining unit and includes:

- (i) "full time" permanent employee means a person hired for an indeterminate period and who works a regular 37.5 hours per week;
- (ii) a "part-time" employee means an employee who has been appointed to a position for which the hours of work on a continuing basis are less than the scheduled work day or week;
- (iii) a "seasonal" employee means an employee appointed to a position which is not continuous throughout the year but recurs in successive years;
- (iv) a "temporary" employee is a person who is employed for thirty (30) consecutive working days or more and up to six (6) consecutive months replacing a Full-Time or Part-Time Employee who, for example is ill, on leave of absence, on vacation, or other approved leave or for the purpose of filling a vacancy until it is filled permanently in accordance with this collective agreement or for the purpose of a pilot project, experimentation, testing or other project, or temporarily doing any other job. A 'temporary' employee is not in the bargaining unit. A temporary employee shall:

- (i) <u>be paid for holidays as set out in the Labour Standards</u> Code;
- (ii) receive vacation pay of 4% of regular pay or the amount set out in the Labour Standards Code, whichever is greater, for all days worked:
- (iii) not receive seniority or other welfare benefits provided for by this collective agreement, and:
- (iv) shall not be entitled to paid sick leave
- (v) A "term" employee means a person who is primarily funded by the Employer and who is employed for a definite term in excess of six (6) consecutive months and not to exceed twenty-four (24) consecutive months, due to the absence of a full-time or part-time Employee on leave from work for a period in excess of six months and such an employee shall be in the bargaining unit. A Term Employee shall:
 - (i) be paid for holidays as set out in the Labour Standards Code;
 - (ii) receive vacation pay of 4% of regular pay or the amount set out in the Labour Standards Code, whichever is greater, for all days worked:
 - (iii) shall be paid in accordance with the negotiated salary rate for term Employees as set out in Appendix "A;
 - (iv) not receive seniority as per Article 19 or other welfare or medical plan or other benefits of the Agreement;
 - (v) not be entitled to paid leave, or other leave as provided under Articles 14 and 16;
 - (vi) have the same right to access the grievance procedure, and;
 - (vii) be entitled to leaves for pregnancy, parental, adoption, bereavement, court, compassionate-care, and illness pursuant to the Labour Standards Code: and
 - (viii) The Employer may terminate the appointment of a Term Employee due to operational requirements at any time during the period of their appointment upon ten (10) days notice.
 - (ix) If a term employee is appointed to a full-time or part-time position during or at the end of their appointment, all time worked as a term employee will be calculated for the purposes of seniority.
 - (x) All term positions will be posted as per the provisions of Article 26.
 - (xi) The Employer will inform the Union Local president of all term appointments as per Article 9.

"lay-off" means the termination of an employee's employment because of lack of work or because of the discontinuance of a function or the termination of federal or provincial program funding directly related to the employee's position."

- "leave" means authorized absence from duty by an employee during his or her regular or normal hours of work;
- "may" is permissive; "shall" and "will" are imperative;
- "membership dues" means the dues established pursuant to the constitution of the Alliance as the dues payable by its members as a consequence of their membership in the Alliance, and shall not include any initiation fee, insurance premium, or special levy;
- "notice" means notice in writing which is hand delivered, or delivered by registered mail:

"overtime" means;

- a) in the case of a full-time employee, authorized work in excess of the employee's scheduled hours of work,
- b) in the case of a part-time employee, authorized work in excessive of seven and one-half (71/2) hours per day or thirty-seven and one-half (371/2) hours per week, but does not include time worked on a holiday.
- "representative" means an employee who has been elected or appointed as a union executive member, or union steward or who represents the union at meetings with management and who is authorized to represent the union;
- "spouse" will, be interpreted to include "common law spouse". A common-law spouse relationship exists, when for a continuous period of at least one (1) year, an employee has lived with a person;
- "standby" means any period of time during which, at the instruction of the Employer, an employee is required to be available for recall to work;
- "time and one-half' means one and one-half (1 1/2) times the employee's hourly rate of pay;
- "union" means the Public Service Alliance of Canada and Local 80035 of the PSAC;
- "weekly rate of pay" means an employee's annual rate of pay divided by 52.176.

ARTICLE 4

RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT WORK

4.01 a) The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees of the Employer described in the certificate issued by the Canadian Industrial Relations Board dated October 25, 1999 as

follows, "All employees of the Band Council of Burnt Church First Nation's, excluding the Band Manager, Comptroller and Band Councilors during their elected term.

- b) Together with the following positions, which are excluded by agreement of the parties:
 - Director of Education;
 - Director of Health;
 - Director of Social Assistance;
 - <u>Director of National Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Program;</u>
 - Director of Public Works and Infrastructure:
 - Director of Child and Family Services;
 - Conservation and Protection Coordinator;
 - Salmon Assessment Research Coordinator.

_

The Employer, the Burnt Church First Nation, and the Union, the Public Service Alliance of Canada, agree and confirm that the agreement by the Employer and the Union on positions excluded from the recognition clause of the collective agreement commencing October 25, 2003 and expiring March 31, 2009, recognizing the Union as exclusive bargaining agent for the Employees as set out in the recognition clause, is entered into without prejudice to the position of the Employer in future applications to the Canada Industrial Relations Board to exclude other employees from the recognized collective bargaining authority of the Union or to modify the scope of the bargaining unit for which the Union is recognized by order of the CIRB.

- 4.02 Persons not covered by the terms of this agreement will not perform duties normally assigned to those employees who are covered by this agreement, except in emergencies when regular employees are not available. The local will be advised in such emergencies.
- 4.03 In the event that the Employer creates a new classification, it will inform the Union of the creation of this new classification together with the Employer's position as to whether such classification is to be recognized as being part of the bargaining unit. Upon a written request from the Union within forty-five (45) days of notification to this effect, the Employer shall meet with the Union in order to discuss the Employer's position on the inclusion or exclusion of this classification. The Employer shall provide the Union with a copy of the job description and a rationale as to the proposed classification.
- 4.04 Should the parties agree that such classification should be included, the Employer shall further provide the Union with a copy of the proposed salary range. At the request of the Union, the parties hereto may continue discussions in order to reach agreement as to the appropriate salary range for the classification.

- 4.05 Failing agreement on the appropriate salary range, the issue may be referred to Arbitration in accordance with Article 27. The Arbitration Board shall confine itself to the express issue of the appropriate salary range for the classification.
- 4.06 In the event that the parties fail to agree on whether such classification shall be included or excluded, either party may refer the case to the Canadian Industrial Relations Board.

UNION REPRESENTATIVES

- 5.01 The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint or otherwise select employees as representatives.
- 5.02 The Union shall determine the jurisdiction of each representative.
- 5.03 The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the name and jurisdiction of its representatives.
- 5.04 A representative shall obtain the permission of the Band Manager before leaving their work to investigate employee complaints, or process a grievance or undertake any other Union business during working hours. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. Where practicable, the representative shall report back to the Band Manager before resuming their normal duties.
- 5.05 The Employer shall notify the Union of new employees when they are hired.
- 5.06 When the Employer requests the presence of a Union representative at a meeting, such request will be communicated to the employee's supervisor.

ARTICLE 6

USE OF EMPLOYER FACILITIES

- 6.01 The Employer will provide for the posting of Union notices and for the placement of reasonable quantities of literature of the Union in the following locations: Band Office, Wellness Centre, Training Centre, Fisheries Building, Daycare, Firehall and School.
- 6.02 A duly accredited representative of the Alliance shall be permitted access to the Employer's premises to assist in the resolution of a complaint or grievance and to attend meetings called by management or the Union on any employee related matter.

6.03 The Employer will provide a meeting room for the Local so that it may carry out Union business. Such requests shall be made to the Band Manager.

ARTICLE 7

EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION

- 7.01 The Employer shall grant leave with pay to a new employee and a Union representative, selected by the Local, to meet for fifteen (15) minutes at the commencement of the employee's employment for the purpose of orienting the new employee.
- 7.02 The Employer will offer during a new employee's orientation, awareness/sensitivity training of the Mi'kmaq culture.

ARTICLE 8

CHECK-OFF

- 8.01 Subject to the provisions of this Article, the Employer will, as a condition of employment, deduct an amount equal to the monthly membership dues from the pay of all employees in the bargaining unit. Where an employee does not have sufficient earnings in respect of any monthly period to permit deductions made under this Article, the Employer shall not be obligated to make such deduction from subsequent salary. All employees shall, as a condition of their continued employment, become and remain members in good standing of the Union. Such membership shall begin upon the initial date of employment.
- 8.02 For the purpose of applying this Article, deductions from pay for each employee in respect of each calendar month will start with the first full calendar month to the extent that earnings are available.
- 8.03 The Alliance shall inform the Employer in writing of the authorized monthly deduction to be checked off for each employee.
- 8.04 The amounts deducted in accordance with Clause 8.01 shall be remitted to the Comptroller of the Union by cheque no later than the 25th of the month following that in which the deductions were made and shall be accompanied by particulars identifying each employee and the deductions made on the employee's behalf.
- 8.05 No employee organization, other than the Union, shall be permitted to have membership dues and other monies deducted by the Employer from the pay of employees in the bargaining unit.

- 8.06 The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this Article, except for any claim or liability arising out of an error committed by the Employer limited to the amount actually involved in the error.
- 8.07 The Employer shall provide to the Union, each April, a complete list of all persons employed by the Employer. This list shall indicate who is included and who is excluded from Check-off.

INFORMATION

- 9.01 The Employer shall provide the Union, within fifteen (15) days of an employee(s) commencing employment with Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation, the name(s), classification and work location of such newly appointed employee(s).
- 9.02 The Union agrees to supply each employee with a copy of the collective agreement. The parties agree to share the cost of printing the collective agreement.
- 9.03 Upon request of an employee, the personnel file of the employee shall be made available for their examination in the presence of an authorized representative of the Employer.
- 9.04 The Employer shall provide all employees with a statement and calculation of their leave credits (vacation, paid holidays, unused overtime and sick) upon fifteen (15) working days of such a request or at least once per year at the end of the fiscal year.

ARTICLE 10

STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

- 10.01 There shall be no strikes or no lockouts as defined in the Canada Labour Code and accompanying regulations during the life of this Agreement.
- 10.02 If an employee is prevented from performing his or her duty because of a strike or lock-out on the premises of another employer, the employee shall report the matter to the Employer and the Employer will make reasonable efforts to ensure that such employee is employed elsewhere, so that the employee shall receive his of her regular pay and benefits to which the employee would normally be entitled.

NO DISCRIMINATION

- 11.01 There shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction, coercion, harassment, intimidation or any disciplinary action exercised or practiced with respect to any employee by reason of age, race, creed, colour, national origin, religious affiliation, sex, sexual orientation, family status, mental or physical disability, marital status and criminal record for which a pardon has been granted, or membership or activity in the union.
- 11.02 It is a discriminatory practice, directly or indirectly:
 - (a) to refuse to employ or continue to employ any individual, or
 - (b) in the course of employment, to differentiate adversely in relation to an employee, on prohibited grounds of discrimination.

By mutual agreement, the parties may use a mediator in an attempt to settle a grievance dealing with discrimination. The selection of the Mediator will be by mutual agreement.

11.03 The hiring preference in Article 26.07 will be considered a special measure designed to address the unique and adverse economic impacts experienced by members of the Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetiti) First Nation.

ARTICLE 12

SEXUAL HARRASSMENT

- **12.01** The Union and the Employer recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from sexual harassment. Sexual Harassment means any contact, comment, gesture or contact of a sexual nature:
 - (a) that is like to cause offense or humiliation to any employee; or
 - (b) that might, on reasonable grounds, be perceived by that employee as placing a condition of a sexual nature on employment or on any opportunity for training or promotion.
- 12.02 The Employer shall develop and distribute policies for the prevention of harassment in the workplace. The Health and Safety Committee may make recommendations to the Employer on the development of these policies.
- 12.03 Grievances concerning the application or interpretation of this article shall go directly to the final level of the grievance procedure.

- **12.04** Processing and mediation of harassment and discrimination complaints:
 - (a) Step 1 Informal problem solving should be undertaken if appropriate and not already attempted.
 - (b) Step 2 Complaints. If the employee feels that the informal procedure has not resolved the alleged problem, the employee may file a complaint with the appropriate Employer representative within twenty-five (25) working days from the end of the informal procedure.

By mutual agreement, the parties may use a mediator in an attempt to settle a grievance dealing with sexual harassment. The selection of the mediator will be by mutual agreement.

In the event mediation does not resolve the complaint, the Alliance shall have the right to pursue grievance arbitration, pursuant to Article 27, Grievance Procedure, Step 3.

ARTICLE 13

DESIGNATED PAID HOLIDAYS

- 13.01 Subject to clause 13.02 the following days shall be designated paid holidays for employees:
 - (a) New Years Day
 - (b) Good Friday
 - (c) Easter Monday
 - (d) Victoria Day
 - (e) National Aboriginal Day
 - (f) Canada Day
 - (g) The first Monday in August (New Brunswick Day)
 - (h) Labour Day
 - (i) Treaty Day
 - (j) Thanksgiving Day
 - (k) Remembrance Day
 - (I) Christmas Day
 - (m) Boxing Day
- 13.02 An employee absent without pay and without authorized leave on either their full working day immediately preceding or following a designated holiday is not entitled to pay for the holiday. In these circumstances where an employee is absent from work on an authorized leave where they would otherwise not be

- receiving pay in the week of the holiday, they are not entitled to pay under this Article.
- 13.03 When a day designated as a holiday under clause 13.01 coincides with an employee's day of rest, the holiday shall be moved to the first scheduled working day following the employees day of rest.
 - When two (2) days designated as holidays under clause 13.01 coincide with an employee's consecutive days of rest, the holidays shall be moved to the employee's first two (2) scheduled working days following the days of rest.
- 13.04 When an employee is required and reports for work on a designated holiday, the employee shall be paid for all hours worked on that day at the rate of one and one half times (1%) their regular rate and be granted another day off with pay in substitution for the holiday.
- 13.05 Subject to operational requirements and advance notice, the Employer shall grant lieu days at such times as the employee may request. Confirmation will be in writing. In any event all holidays or days substituted therefore shall be taken by the employee in the year they are earned unless special permission is received to carry over those days until the next fiscal year.
- 13.06 Where a day that is a designated holiday for an employee coincides with a day of leave with pay, that day shall count as a holiday and not as a day of leave.
- 13.07 When an employee is required to report for work and reports on a designated holiday, the employee shall be paid the greater of compensation in accordance with the provisions of clause 13.04 or three (3) hours pay at the applicable overtime rate of pay.

Notwithstanding the above, the existing practice (October 17, 2001) for child and family community services employees will be maintained.

ARTICLE 14

VACATION LEAVE

- 14.01 The vacation year shall be from April 1st to March 31st of the following calendar year, inclusive.
- 14.02 Accumulation of Vacation Leave Credits

An employee shall earn annual vacation leave for the years in which they are continuously employed at the rate of:

- (a) three (3) weeks until the month in which the anniversary of the employee's eighth (8) year of service occurs;
- (b) four (4) weeks commencing with the month in which the employee's eighth (8th) anniversary of service occurs:
- (c) five (5) weeks commencing with the month in which the employee's sixteenth (16th) anniversary of service occurs.
- 14.03 An employee is entitled to vacation leave with their regular rate of pay after they have earned the leave for that year. After they have completed six (6) months of continuous employment, employees may receive an advance of credits equivalent to the anticipated credits for the vacation year.
- 14.04 Scheduling of Vacation Leave with Pay
 - (a) Employees are expected to take their vacation leave during the year in which it is earned.
 - (b) For the purposes of scheduling, employees in departments will make application in writing indicating the time they choose to take their leave. The Employer, given the requirements to maintain the services offered by the employees, will schedule vacation. Where there is a conflict in times chosen between employees, the most senior employee will be granted leave.
 - (c) The Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to cancel a period of vacation leave, which has been previously approved.
- 14.05 The Employer shall give an employee notice in writing of approval, rejection or cancellation of a request for vacation leave with pay. Rejection or cancellation will include the reason therefore.
- 14.06 Where, in respect of any period of vacation leave, an employee is granted any other leave, the period of vacation leave so displaced shall either be added to the vacation period or reinstated for use at a later date at the discretion of the Employer.
- 14.07 Where in any vacation year an employee has not been granted all of the vacation leave credited to them, the unused portion of the employee's vacation leave shall, with the approval of the Employer, be carried over in to the following vacation year.
- 14.08 (a) The Employer will make every reasonable effort not to recall an employee to duty after the employee has proceeded on vacation leave with pay;

- (b) When, during any period of vacation leave with pay, an employee is recalled to duty, the employee shall be reimbursed for expenses that the employee incurs:
 - (i) in proceeding to the employee's place of duty; and
 - (ii) in returning to the place from which the employee was recalled if he or she immediately resumes vacation upon completing the assignment for which he or she was recalled;

after submitting such accounts as are normally required by the Employer to be reimbursed for expenses incurred by the employee.

(c) The employee shall not be considered as being on vacation leave during any period in respect of which the employee is entitled under clause 14.08 (b) to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred by the employee.

14.09 Cancellation of Approved Leave

When the Employer cancels or alters a period of vacation which it had previously approved, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for the non-returnable portion of vacation contracts and reservations made by the employee with respect to that period, subject to the presentation of such documentation as the Employer may require. The employee must make every reasonable attempt to mitigate any losses incurred and will provide proof of such action to the Employer.

- 14.10 When an employee deceases or otherwise ceases to be employed, the employee or the employee's estate shall be paid an amount equal to the product obtained by multiplying the number of days of earned but unused vacation leave with pay to the employee's credit by the daily rate of pay as calculated from the classification prescribed in the employee's letter of appointment on the date of termination of employment.
- 14.11 The Employer agrees to issue advance payment of estimated net salary for vacation period of two (2) or more complete weeks, provided a written request for such advance payment is received from the employee at least six (6) weeks prior to the last pay day before the employee's vacation period commences. Providing the employee has been authorized to proceed on vacation leave for the period concerned, pay in advance of going on vacation shall be made prior to departure.

LEAVE WITH OR WITHOUT PAY FOR UNION BUSINESS

- 15.01 The Employer will grant leave with pay to an employee called as a witness by an Arbitration Board or the Canadian Industrial Relations Board in any matter between the Employer and the Union before that Board.
- 15.02 The Employer will grant leave with pay to employees who are meeting with management on behalf of the Union.
- 15.03 The Employer will grant leave with pay to an employee who is:
 - (a) party to an arbitration, conciliation or a hearing before the CIRB, or in an alternative dispute resolution process;
 - (b) the representative of an employee who is party to an arbitration.
- 15.04 The Employer will grant leave with pay to employees during regular working hours for the purposes of attending contract negotiations meetings on behalf of the Union.
- 15.05 Subject to operational requirements, the Employer will grant leave without pay to employees selected as delegates to attend Executive Council meetings and conventions of the Alliance and the conventions of the Canadian Labour Congress and conventions of Provincial Federation of Labour.
- 15.06 The Employer will grant leave without pay to employees who exercise authority of a Representative on behalf of the Alliance to undertake training related to the duties of a representative.
- 15.07 An employee who has been elected or appointed to a full-time office of the Union, the Local or the Council shall be entitled to leave without pay for the period during which they are elected or appointed to hold office. An employee who returns to work with the Employer after a period of leave granted under this Article shall have the time spent on leave credited for purposes of seniority. Such an employee has the right to return to their former position and classification if available, or equivalent.

OTHER LEAVE WITH OR WITHOUT PAY

16.01 Marriage Leave

An employee <u>getting married</u> shall be granted five (5) days marriage leave with pay. Marriage leave includes Aboriginal Tradition Marriage and Same-sex marriage.

16.02 Leave for Cultural and Religious Obligations

- (a) The Employer agrees to allow an employee time-off without pay on cultural or religious days.
- (b) The Employer shall grant time *off* without pay for an employee to observe their cultural and religious obligations providing such a request is made in writing prior to the date of the leave requested. Employees are encouraged to use vacation or other leave days with pay for this purpose.

16.03 Leave with Pay for Family Related Responsibilities

- (a) For the purpose of this clause, family is defined as spouse (or commonlaw spouse residing with the employee), dependent children (including children of spouse), foster children, step-children, parents (including stepparents or foster parents), or any relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.
- (b) The total leave with pay which may be granted under this clause shall not exceed five (5) days in a fiscal year.
- (c) Subject to paragraph (b), the Employer shall grant leave with pay under the following circumstances;
 - (i) up to one (1) day or shift for a medical or dental appointment when the dependent family member is incapable of attending the appointments by himself or herself, or for appointments with appropriate authorities in schools or adoption agencies. An employee requesting leave under this provision must notify his or her supervisor of the appointment as far in advance as possible;
 - (ii) up to five (5) days or shifts with pay to provide for the temporary care of a sick member of the employee's family and to provide an employee with time to make alternate care arrangements where the illness is of a longer duration.

(iii) three (3) days or shifts with pay for needs directly related to the birth or the adoption of the employee's child. This leave may be divided into two (2) periods and granted on separate days.

16.04 Court Leave

The Employer shall grant leave with pay to an employee for the period of time required to:

- (a) be available for jury selection;
- (b) serve on a jury.

16.05 Bereavement Leave with Pay

For the purpose of this clause, immediate family is defined as father, mother (or alternatively stepfather, stepmother, or foster parent), brother, sister, spouse, fiancee, child (including child of spouse) stepchild, foster child or ward of the employee, grandparent, father-in law, mother-in law, and legal guardian, and relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.

- (a) Where a member of an employee's immediate family dies, they shall be entitled to leave with pay for a period of five (5) working days.
- (b) One (1) day leave with pay shall be granted to an employee to attend the funeral as a pallbearer or mourner. An employee will be allowed to attend a funeral service of a community member.
- (c) If, during a period of paid leave, an employee is bereaved in circumstances under which the employee would have been eligible for bereavement leave with pay under this article, the employee shall be granted bereavement leave with pay and the employee's approved leave with pay shall be taken at another time.
- (d) It is recognized by the parties that the circumstances which call for leave in respect of bereavement are based on individual circumstances. On request, the Employer may, after considering the particular circumstances involved, grant leave with or without pay for a period greater than that provided for herein. Such a request shall not be reasonably denied.
- (e) The Employer agrees to seriously consider requests for bereavement leave where cultural traditions create important family relationships not described in this clause. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

16.06 Maternity / Parental Leave

Every employee who has completed six months of continuous service with the Employer is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence from employment for the purpose of maternity and parental leave.

An employee who intends to take a leave of absence from employment under the Maternity Leave or Parental Leave section shall:

- (a) give at least four weeks notice in writing to the Employer unless there is a valid reason why the notice cannot be giving;
- (b) inform the Employer in writing d the length of leave intended to be taken; and
- (c) give at least four weeks notice in writing to the Employer of any change in the length intended to be taken, unless there is a valid reason why that notice cannot be given.

A pregnant employee is entitled to and shall be granted Maternity Leave without pay before, on or after the termination date of the pregnancy to and ending not later than seventeen (17) weeks after the termination date of her pregnancy. At its discretion, the Employer may require an employee to submit a medical certificate certifying pregnancy.

Where the employee's newborn child is born prematurely, or is born with, or contracts, a condition that requires hospitalization within the period defined above, the period of maternity leave without pay therein defined may be extended beyond the date falling seventeen (17) weeks after the date of birth of the child by a period equal to the period during which the child is hospitalized.

Where the employee has proceeded on maternity leave without pay and returns to work during all, or part of, the period during which her newborn child is hospitalized, she may resume her maternity leave without pay when the child's hospitalization is over, and remain on maternity leave without pay to the extent provided for above.

An employee who has not commenced maternity leave without pay may elect to use earned vacation and compensatory leave credits up to and beyond the date that her pregnancy terminates.

The employer agrees to continue the current practice of Maternity Leave Allowance payment (6 week's with pay).

Notwithstanding the above, the parties will meet during the term of this Collective Agreement to discuss a Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan for Maternity Leave/Parental Leave.

Medical Appointment for Pregnant Employees:

- (a) Up to half (1/2) a day with pay will be granted to the pregnant employee for the purpose of attending routine medical appointment
- (b) Where a series of continuing appointments are necessary for the treatment of a particular condition relating to the pregnancy, absences should be charged to sick leave.

Where an employee has or will have the actual care and custody of a newborn child (including adopted child), that employee is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence from employment of up to thirty seven (37) weeks within the fifty two (52) weeks period beginning on the day the child is born or the day the child comes into the employee's care.

The aggregate amount of leave of absence from employment that may be taken by two employees in respect of the birth or adoption of any one child shall not exceed fifty-two (52) weeks.

Leave granted under the maternity/parental articles shall be counted for the calculation of "continuous employment" for the purpose of calculating severance pay and service for the purposes of calculating vacation leave. Time spent on such leave shall be counted for pay increment purposes.

Employees granted leave under the maternity/parental articles, shall be reinstated to their former position. Where for any valid reason an Employer cannot reinstate an employee to their former position, the Employer shall reinstate the employee in a comparable position with the same wages and benefits and in the same location.

Every employee who intends to or is required to take leave of absence from employment is entitled, upon written request, be informed in writing by the Employer of every employment, promotion or training opportunity that arises during the period when the employee is on leave of absence from employment and for which the employee is qualified.

Rights to benefits

The pension, health and disability benefits and the seniority of any employee who takes or is required to take a leave of absence from employment by reason of maternity/paternity leave shall accumulate during the entire period of leave.

16.07 Maternity-Related Reassignment or Leave

(a) Reassignment and Job Modification

An employee who is pregnant or nursing may, during the period from the beginning of pregnancy to the end of the twenty-fourth (24th) week following the birth, request the Employer to modify her job functions or reassign her to another job if, by reason of the pregnancy or nursing, continuous any of her current job functions may pose a risk to her health or that of the fetus or child.

(b) Medical Certificate

An employee's request under paragraph (a) must be accompanied by a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner of the employee's choice indicating the expected duration of the potential risk and the activities or conditions to avoid in order to eliminate the risk.

(c) Employer's Obligation

An Employer to whom a request has been made under paragraph (a) shall examine the request in consultation with the employee and, where reasonably practicable, shall modify the employee's job function or reassign her.

(d) Rights of Employees

An employee who has made a request under paragraph (a) is entitled to continue in her current job while the Employer examines her request, but, if the risk posed by continuing any of her job functions so requires, she is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence with pay at her regular rate of wages until her Employer;

- (i) modifies her job functions; or
- (ii) reassigns her; or
- (iii) informs her in writing that it is not reasonably practicable to modify her job functions or reassign her.

Onus of Proof

The onus is on the Employer to show that a modification of job functions or a reassignment that would avoid the activities or conditions indicated in the medical certificate is not reasonably practicable.

Employee to be Informed

Where the Employer concludes that a modification of job functions or a reassignment that would avoid the activities or conditions indicated in the medical certificate is not reasonably practicable, the Employer shall so inform the employee in writing.

Status of Employee

An employee whose job functions are modified or who is reassigned shall be deemed to continue to hold the job that she held at the time of making the request under paragraph (a) and shall continue to receive the wages and benefits that are attached to that job.

Employee Right to Leave

An employee referred to in paragraph (d) is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence for the duration of the risk as indicated in the medical certificate.

(e) Entitlement to Leave

An employee who is pregnant or nursing is entitled to and shall be granted a leave of absence during the period from the beginning of the pregnancy to the end of the twenty-fourth week following the birth, if she provides the Employer with a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner of her choice indicating that she is unable to work by reason of the pregnancy or nursing and indicating the duration of that inability.

(f) Employee's Duty to Inform Employer

An employee whose job functions have been modified, who has been reassigned or who is on leave of absence shall give at least two weeks notice in writing to the Employer of any change in the duration of the risk or in the inability as indicated in the medical certificate, unless there is a valid reason why that notice cannot be given, and such notice must be accompanied by a new medical certificate.

16.08 Medical / Dental Appointment Leave

- (a) An employee will be granted time off with pay to a maximum of three (3) days per year to attend medical and/or dental appointments.
- (b) An employee shall use their sick leave credits once the three days as set out above are exhausted.

16.09 Leave Without Pay For The Care/Nurturing Of Pre-School Age Children

Both parties recognize the importance of access to leave for the purpose of care and nurturing of **pre-school** age children.

An employee shall be granted leave without pay (including children of commonlaw spouse) for the personal care and nurturing of the employee's pre-school age children in accordance with the following conditions:

- (a) an employee shall notify the Employer in writing as far as advance as possible but not less than four (4) weeks in advance of the commencement date of such leave, unless because of an urgent or unforeseeable circumstance such notice cannot be given.
- (b) Leave granted under this clause shall be for a minimum period of six (6) weeks and for a maximum of two (2) years. The total leave granted under this article shall not exceed five (5) years during an employee's total period of employment.
- (c) An employee who has proceeded on leave without pay may change their return to work date if such change does not result in additional costs to the Employer.
- (d) Pursuant to clause (c), the parties will meet to confirm a mutually agreeable return to work date.
- (e) An employee who returns to work with the Employer after a period of leave granted under this Article shall be returned to their former position, if available, or to a position comparable to the position and classification level prior to the leave period.

16.10 Leave Without Pay for the Long-Term Care of a Parent

- (a) Both parties recognize the importance of access to leave for the purpose of long-term care of a parent.
- (b) An employee shall be granted leave without pay for the long-term personal care of the employee's parents, including step-parents or foster parents, in accordance with the following conditions:
 - a) an employee shall notify the Employer in writing as far in advance as possible but not less than four (4) weeks in advance of the commencement date of such leave, unless, because of urgent or unforeseeable circumstances, such notice cannot be given;

- b) leave granted under this Article shall be for a minimum period of three (3) weeks;
- c) the total leave granted under this article shall not exceed five (5) years during an employee's total period of employment;
- d) An employee who has proceeded on leave without pay may change his or her return to work date if such change does not result in additional costs to the Employer.
- e) Pursuant to clause (d) the parties will meet to confirm a mutually agreeable return to work date.
- f) An employee who returns to work with the Employer after a period of leave granted under this Article shall be returned to their former position, if available, or to a position comparable to the position and classification level prior to the leave period.

16.11 Leave With or Without Pay for Other Reasons

Subject to operational requirements, the Employer may grant:

- (a) leave with or without pay when circumstances not directly attributable to the employee prevent his or her reporting for duty.
- (b) leave with or without pay in addition to or other than those specified in the agreement.

16.12 - Compassionate Care Leave

- a) Both parties recognize the importance of access to leave to provide care or support to a gravely ill family member with a significant risk of death.
- b) For the purpose of this clause, immediate family is defined as father, mother (or alternatively stepfather, stepmother, or foster parent), brother, sister, spouse, fiancée, child (including child of spouse) stepchild, foster child or ward of the employee, grandparent, father-in law. mother-in law, and legal guardian, and relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.

Subject to paragraph (b), an employee shall be granted leave without pay for the compassionate care of family in accordance with the following conditions:

- (i) an employee shall notify the Employer in writing the commencement date of such leave. unless, because of urgent or unforeseeable circumstances, such notice cannot be given;
- (ii) an employee shall provide the Employer a copy of a medical certificate as proof that the ill family member needs care or support and is at

significant risk of death within twenty-six (26) weeks. A certificate from another medical practitioner, such as a nurse practitioner, is acceptable when the gravely ill family member is in a geographic location where treatment by a medical doctor is limited or not accessible, and a medical doctor has authorized the other medical practitioner to treat the ill family member.

- <u>d) Leave granted under this article shall be for a minimum period of one (1) week and a maximum of six (6) weeks.</u>
- e) If, during a period of sick leave, vacation leave or compensatory leave, an employee is advised of circumstances under which he or she would have been eligible for compassionate care leave without pay under paragraphs b) and c), the employee shall be granted compassionate care without pay and his or her paid leave credits shall be restored to the extent of any concurrent compassionate care leave without pay granted.

ARTICLE 17

SICK LEAVE

- 17.01 An employee shall earn sick leave credits at the rate of one and one-quarter (1 1/4) days for each calendar month for which the employee receives pay for at least ten (10) days.
- 17.02 **An** employee shall be granted sick leave with pay when he or she is unable to perform his or her duties because of illness or injury provided that:
 - (a) the employee satisfies the Employer of this condition in such manner and at such time as may be determined by the Employer; and
 - (b) the employee has the necessary sick leave credits.
- 17.03 Unless otherwise confirmed by the Employer, a statement signed by the employee stating that because of illness or injury he or she was unable to perform his or her duties, shall, when delivered to the Employer, be considered as meeting the requirements of 20.02(a); if the period of leave with pay requested does not exceed five (5) consecutive days and the total number of days of sick leave with pay granted in a fiscal year does not exceed ten (10) cumulative days. The Employer may waive the above days based on individual circumstances.
- 17.04 When an employee has insufficient or no credits to cover the granting of sick leave with pay under the provisions of clause 20.02, sick leave with pay may, at the discretion of the Employer, be granted to an employee for a period of up to

- twenty-five (25) days, subject to the deduction of such advanced leave from any sick leave credits subsequently earned.
- 17.05 When an employee is granted sick leave with pay and injury-on-duty leave is subsequently approved for the same period, it shall be considered, for the purpose of the record of sick leave credits, that the employee was not granted sick leave with pay.
- 17.06 Where, in respect of any period of otherwise paid leave, an employee is granted sick leave with pay, the period of leave so displaced shall be taken at some other time to be approved by the Employer.
- 17.07 Sick leave credits unused by an employee shall be restored to an employee whose employment was terminated by reason of layoff within the two (2) year period from the date of layoff.

JOB SECURITY

18.01 There shall be no contracting out of bargaining unit work.

ARTICLE 19

SEVERANCE PAY, LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 19.01 The Union shall be advised in writing, within thirty (30) days of the date the Employer receives confirmation of its annual budget allotments relevant to any program or services whether it plans to reduce its workforce as a result. It is understood this notice will outline the reasons for the workforce reductions, the location and number of employees affected. The Union will also be provided with a list of the budget areas and general timing of budget decisions in those areas that affect Band Council employment levels.
- 19.02 The parties will review possible alternatives to the workforce reduction.
- 19.03 There shall be no temporary or permanent lay off of any employee, who is employed in the bargaining unit provided the employee, agrees to be assigned or appointed to another vacant position. An employee who could be affected by a reduction in the workforce shall be offered assignment or appointment to any vacant position within the bargaining unit providing the employee has the qualifications and the ability to perform the normal requirements of the job. An employee will be offered a familiarization period. If an employee refuses an

- assignment or appointment to a position within the bargaining unit they shall be laid off with recall rights as provided for in this article.
- 19.04 In the event of a lay off, an employee with the least seniority in their classification will be laid-off first.
- 19.05 (a) Employees subject to lay off will be notified in writing at least (30) thirty days in advance of their lay off date.
 - (b) During this notice period those employees will be granted leave with pay for the purpose of being interviewed and examined by a prospective Employer and to such additional leave with pay for related travel.
- 19.06 Employees subject to lay off for an indefinite period shall have the option of:
 - (a) accepting lay off, retaining the right of recall for up to (2) two years; or
 - (b) accepting termination from the Employer with full pay for the remainder of the notice period, waiving the right to recall by accepting severance pay outlined below; or
 - in the event of a temporary lay off, an employee shall continue to be covered by the Group Benefit Plan as set out in Article 38 provided the employee continue to remits their contribution.
- 19.07 Any employee (s) displaced from their position as a result of 19.04 (a) above will have the option of exercising their rights outlined in 19.06 (a) or (b) or of displacing an employee with less seniority within the bargaining unit provided the employee can demonstrate that they have the ability to perform the normal requirement of the job. The employee shall notify the Employer in writing of his or her intent to displace another employee within one (1) week of receiving notice that they are being laid off.
- 19.08 Employees who are displaced will become subject to the provisions of this article.
- 19.09 (a) Employees who have been laid off and have not accepted severance pay shall be entitled to recall in inverse order of lay off within their classification for a period of two (2) years from the date of lay off. Upon expiry of the recall period an employee shall receive severance pay if he or she had not been recalled.
 - (b) An employee who is laid off shall have the right of recall for a period of two (2) years for any vacant or newly created bargaining unit positions of which the employee is qualified to perform. The employee will be granted a familiarization period as determined by the Employer

19.10 For lay off, retirement or death, severance pay shall be calculated on the basis of the employee's weekly rate of pay on the last day of employment at the rate of one (1) week's pay for each year of service.

ARTICLE 20

SENIORITY

- 20.01 (a) For employees who were in the bargaining units on October 25, 1999 (date of CIRB certificate), seniority shall mean length of service with the Employer.
 - (b) For all other employees, seniority means the length of service in the bargaining unit.
 - (c) Seniority shall commence from date of hire.
- 20.02 The seniority of a part-time employee shall be determined on a pro-rata basis in accordance with the proportion of full time hours worked.
- 20.03 When two or more employees commence work on the same day the procedure for establishing their relative seniority shall be the employee who commenced work at the earliest hour *of* the day.
- 20.04 (a) Seniority lists as described above consisting of the name and date of seniority of each employee shall be maintained and revised every six (6) months (January and July) by the Employer and posted on bulletin boards, as set out in Article 6.01, with a copy forwarded to the President of the Local Union.
 - (b) An employee who feels that he/she is improperly placed on a seniority list shall have (60) sixty days from the posting date to file a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure in this agreement.
- 20.05 (a) Employees temporarily appointed or on an acting assignment outside the bargaining unit shall retain and accumulate seniority not to exceed one (I) year from the date of appointment/assignment.
 - (b) No employees shall be transferred to a position nor required to perform any work outside their bargaining unit,
- 20.06 Any employee who resigns his/her position and within thirty (30) days is reemployed within the bargaining unit, and at the discretion of the Employer, shall be granted leave of absence without pay covering those days absent and shall retain all previous rights in relation to seniority.

EMPLOYEE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE FILES

- 21.01 (a) When a formal assessment of an employee's performance is made, the employee concerned must be given an opportunity to sign the assessment in question upon its completion to indicate that its contents have been read. A copy of the completed assessment form will be provided to the employee at the time. An employee's signature on their assessment form will be considered to be an indication only that its contents have been read and shall not indicate the employee's concurrence with the statements contained on the form.
 - (b) The purpose of the formal assessment is to measure an employee's work performance against established objectives given in advance in writing to the employee prior to the assessment period, to assess strengths and weaknesses and to develop a plan of action with scheduled review periods in cases where an employee is assessed as not meeting the objectives.
- 21.02 (a) Prior to an employee performance review the employee shall be given the evaluation form which will be used for the review and any written document which provides instructions to the person conducting the review.
 - (b) If during the employee performance review, either the form or instructions are changed they shall be given to the employee.
- 21.03 An employee has the right to make written comments to be attached to the performance review form
- 21.04 Upon written request of an employee, the personnel file of that employee shall be made available for their examination in the presence of an authorized representative of the Employer. Upon request, an employee will be given a copy of their personnel file.
- 21.05 The Employer shall maintain one (1) personnel file for each employee. There shall be no disciplinary report or other document, relating to an employee's conduct or performance placed on that file unless a copy of the report or document has been given to the employee.

PAY ADMINISTRATION

- 22.01 Employees shall be paid on a weekly basis (Thursday) at the rate of pay to which they are entitled as prescribed in Appendices A, B, C, D and E (Rates of Pay). The rate of pay in Appendices A, B, C, D and E shall become effective on the dates specified.
- 22.02 Upon initial appointment, an employee shall be paid the hourly rate prescribed for the position, or in the case of a position having a range of incremental rates, the rate deemed appropriate by the Employer. In no case shall the employee be paid at less than the minimum rate.
- 22.03 An employee appointed or reclassified to a higher rated position shall be paid at the step in the range of the new position which provides an increase in pay at least equal to the lowest paid increment in the new position, or such higher rate deemed appropriate by the Employer. In no case shall the employee be paid higher than the maximum rate in the new position.
- 22.04 An employee appointed or reclassified to a position rated the same as their prior position shall receive at least the same incremental rate, if any, in their new position.
- 22.05 An employee who would suffer a reduction in their basic wage or salary rate as a result of the re-classification of their position shall have their wage or salary rate "red circled (protected)" in accordance with this Article.
 - An employee shall continue to be paid the basic rate applicable to their old job classification. They will not be eligible to receive any increases until their "red circled rate" becomes equal to or less than the standard rate for their new job classification, after which their "red circling" shall come to an end and they shall be paid the standard rate for that classification.

22.06 Pay Increments

- (a) An employee holding a position for which there is a minimum and maximum rate of pay shall be granted pay increments until he or she reaches the maximum rate for the position. The pay increment period is the period identified in Appendices B, C, D and E.
 - A pay increment shall be **in** the range applicable to the position that is next higher to the rate at which the employee is being paid.
- (b) An employee appointed or reclassified to **a** position other than a higher rated position shall retain his or her increment date.

- (c) Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement to the contrary, an employee on a leave of absence without pay for a period of three (3) months or more will not be granted his or her pay increment until he or she completes a period of employment equal to the pay increment period for the position held. That date shall become the employee's new increment date
- 22.07 The Employer may appoint an employee to a position outside the bargaining unit on an acting basis for a period of up to one (1) year, during which time the employee may be returned by the Employer to his or her former position at the rate of pay to which he or she would have otherwise been entitled within the bargaining unit. The acting appointment may be extended beyond one (1) year to accommodate a temporary vacancy.
- 22.08 Where a pay increment and pay revision are affected on the same date, the pay increment shall be applied first.
- 22.09 When an employee is required by the Employer to perform duties of a higher rated classification level, in an acting capacity, the employee shall be paid acting pay calculated from the date on which he or she commenced to act.

TRAVEL TIME, SCHEDULING & EXPENSES

- 23.01 Employees traveling for the purpose of conducting business on behalf of the Employer and at its direction will be reimbursed authorized expenses incurred.
- 23.02 The Employer agrees to provide advances for employees' expenses.
- 23.03 Time spent in transit shall be treated as time worked.
- 23.04 If an employee is required by the Employer to remain in travel status, but is not required to work on the employee's day of rest, the time will be considered as time worked and the employee will be given equivalent time off with pay the employee would have earned for that period of time so substituted.
- 23.05 For the purposes of this Agreement, traveling time is compensated for only in the circumstances and to the extent provided for in this Article.
- 23.06 The parties agree to be governed by the current Treasury Board Travel Directive.

SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

- 24.01 Where it appears during any meeting with an employee, that the nature of such meeting must change to an investigation which could result in the disciplining of that employee, that meeting must be immediately terminated and the following procedures will be implemented.
- 24.02 When an employee is required to attend a meeting, the purpose of which is to conduct an investigation or to render a disciplinary decision concerning him/her, the employee is entitled to have, at their request, a representative of the Union attend the meeting.
- 24.03 No employee will be disciplined without just and sufficient cause. When an employee is suspended from duty, the Employer will notify the employee in writing of the reason for such suspension. The Employer will give such notification at the time of suspension or discharge. If the employee does not receive the written reason for such suspension or discharge, the employee shall be deemed to be Suspended with pay until the written notice is received.
- 24.04 Discipline, when imposed, shall be imposed in a timely manner. An employee shall be made aware of all disciplinary reports that have been placed on the employee's file. Where the employee has not been made aware of such a report within fourteen (14) days of the conclusion of the investigation, then no such report shall be introduced as evidence in a hearing relating to disciplinary action. An employee shall receive a copy of any disciplinary report or written reprimand placed on the employee's file.
- 24.05 If an employee files a grievance against a written reprimand, suspension, or discharge in accordance with the grievance procedure (Article 27), the Employer will postpone that disciplinary action until the grievance is resolved except when the Employer has determined that there has been a theft, breach of trust or serious misconduct.
- 24.06 The Employer agrees that discipline should be corrective in nature and depending upon the nature of the infraction should normally impose a verbal or written warning before imposing a suspension or resorting to discharge.
- 24.07 In cases of written reprimand, suspension or dismissal, the Employer shall provide the Local President with a written record of any disciplinary action taken against the employee including the reason(s) for the disciplinary action. At the employee's request a copy of the related written report shall be forwarded under confidential cover to the Local President.

- 24.08 Any document or written statement related to disciplinary action, which may have been placed on the personnel file of an employee shall be destroyed after one (1) year provided that no other disciplinary action has occurred. If the other disciplinary action has been noted in the employee's file the record shall be maintained for two (2) years.
- 24.09 Grievances relating to Suspension or discipline shall be filed at step 2 of the grievance procedure. If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at step 2, then the grievance may be referred to Expedited Arbitration in accordance with Article 27.

24.10 Whistle blowing protection

No employee will be disciplined for reporting any abuse by the Employer or any representative of the Employer.

ARTICLE 25

HEALTH AND SAFETY

25.01 The Employer has the primary responsibility for ensuring that safe conditions prevail within the workplace, to take appropriate and effective measures, both preventative and corrective, to protect the health and safety of employees.

The Union, in cooperation with the Employer, will encourage employees to work in a safe manner and will promote a safe and healthy work environment.

Employees are responsible for taking the necessary measures to ensure their health, safety and physical well-being.

The Employer will welcome suggestions on the subject from the Union and the parties undertake to consult with a view to adopting and expeditiously carrying out training procedures and techniques designed or intended to prevent or reduce the risk of employment injury pursuant to the Canada Labour Code.

25.02 The Employer and the Union agree that work practices shall be governed by the Canada Labour Code and its regulations. The Employer may develop and issue safe practice regulations in consultation with the Health and Safety Committee.

Joint Health and Safety Committees

25.03 (a) The Employer and the Union recognize the need for constructive and meaningful consultations on health and safety matters. Consequently, joint health and safety committees will be formed and will operate in accordance with the provisions of the Canada Labour Code, Part II.

- (b) (i) The employees appointed to the Joint Health and Safety
 Committee shall perform the duties assigned to them without loss
 of salary or benefits.
 - (ii) Union representatives on Health and Safety Committees shall be provided the necessary training in order to carry out their responsibilities as required by the *Canada Labour Code*, *Part II* and the Collective Agreement. All time spent in such training shall be deemed to be time at work.
 - (iii) Union representatives on the Health and Safety Committees shall be entitled to time off from work with no loss of earnings to attend seminars, conferences, courses sponsored by government agencies or the Union where such courses give instruction or upgrading on health and safety matters.
- 25.04 When any employee notes that the quality of the work environment is deteriorating, they are obliged to inform the Employer without delay in writing, or orally if they believe the situation is urgent.

Accordingly, the Employer shall:

- (a) (i) carry out the necessary inspection, analysis and investigations in the presence of a Union representative, and provide them with a copy of the report arising from these inspections, analyses and investigations;
 - (ii) place the matter on the agenda of the next meeting of the Joint Health and Safety Committee.
- (b) Any investigation report arising from the examination of a problem will be sent to the Local of the Union.
- (c) If the Union is not satisfied with the results of the investigation report it may request that the Joint Health and Safety Committee conduct another investigation.
- (d) A Union representative must be present at all investigations or inspections rising under paragraph (c) of this clause.
- 25.05 The Employer agrees to provide at no expense to the employee appropriate transportation to the nearest physician or hospital and from there to his/her home or place of work depending on the decision of the attending physician when such services are immediately required for an employee as a result of:
 - (a) injury on the job, or,

(b) a heart attack or other serious ailment which occurs on the job.

The Employer shall notify the Local of incidents of this nature.

25.06 The Employer will assume the costs of training employees designated as First Aid Attendants. Employees selected for first aid training will be granted time off with pay to attend first aid courses. Current certificates covering First Aid and CPR will be provided.

25.07 Lifting

As provided in the *Canada Labour Code, Part II*, the Employer will provide any employee required to lift by hand any object weighing in excess of ten (10) kilograms with instructions and training in the manual handling of materials.

25.08 Right of Refusal

- (a) An employee has the right to refuse to do particular work if the employee has reasonable grounds to believe that the performance of this work will endanger their health, safety or physical well-being, or may similarly endanger another employee.
- (b) The employee may not, however, exercise the right granted to him/her under paragraph 25.08 (a) if the refusal to perform this work places the life, health, safety or physical well-being of another person in immediate danger or if the danger that could justify the refusal is inherent in the kind of profession, trade or occupation exercised by the employee.

When an employee refuses to do particular work in accordance with Article 25.08(a):

- i) the employee shall inform his/her supervisor and the Alliance representative without delay;
- the employee shall suffer no loss of salary during the period for which he/she withdraws their services;
- the employee is entitled to be present while the investigation provided for hereinafter is conducted;
- until the situation is remedied, no other employee may be assigned to use or operate the machine, apparatus, material or object, or be assigned to the part of the work which is the subject of the investigation, unless it is this person's duty to establish safe conditions;

until the situation giving rise to the refusal to work is corrected, the Employer may assign temporarily the employee to another job providing that it is similar to their own, that the employee does not suffer any loss of salary and that such an assignment does not violate the provisions of the collective agreement.

Administration of Legislation

- 25.09 Any right or benefit not stipulated in this Article and conferred on the employees of the Employer by any legislation or regulation applicable to the parties in connection with health, safety or the environment of the workplace is incorporated by reference into this article.
- 25.10 Protection for Pregnant or Breast-feedingWorker

An employee who is pregnant or breast-feeding has the right to stop work without loss of pay for the period of leave beginning with the pregnancy to the end of the 24th week following the birth as indicated by the medical certificate provided by the doctor of the employee's choice if by reason of the pregnancy or nursing continuing any of her current functions may pose a risk to her health or that of the fetus or child.

The Employer shall consider any request for re-assignment and/or job modification in consultation with the Union and, where reasonably practical, shall modify the employee's job functions or re-assign her.

An employee's request to be re-assigned must be accompanied by a medical certificate supplied by a doctor of the employee's choice stating the duration of the potential risk and the activities or conditions to avoid in order to eliminate the risk.

The employee will be granted a leave of absence with pay at her regular rate of pay for the duration of the risk period as indicated by the medical certificate until the Employer:

- (a) modifies her job functions or reassigns her, or
- (b) informs her in writing that it is not reasonably practicable to modify her job functions or to reassign her.
- 25.11 The Employer shall provide the employee with immunization against communicable diseases where there is a risk of incurring such diseases in the performance of their duties.
- 25.12 The Employer shall provide safety footwear and protective clothing and equipment that are required in the performance of the employee's duties. Where

- protective clothing is supplied, the Employer agrees to furnish, replace or repair any such damaged clothing.
- 25.13 A Video Display Terminal (VDT) Operator who is required to work at a VDT for twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the normal work week, may have their eyes examined once per year. The Employer shall pay the costs of such examination or tests where not covered by a medical plan.
- 25.14 Where the Employer requires an employee to undergo an occupational health examination by a qualified practitioner, satisfactory to the Employer, such examination will be conducted at no expense to the employee. An employee shall be granted leave without loss of pay to attend the examination.
- 25.15 The Employer shall provide a smoke-free work environment in all of its buildings.

ARTICLE 26

STAFFING PROCEDURES

- 26.01 The Employer shall post all vacancies and newly created positions in the bargaining units (hereinafter referred to as "Job Opportunities").
- 26.02 Job opportunities will be open to all Esgenoôpetiti band members and bargaining unit members who are Esgenoôpetiti band members. In <a href="the event no candidate meets the requirements of the job opportunity, the search will be open to all remaining bargaining unit members. In the event that no candidate meets the requirements of the job opportunity an external search will be carried out. A copy of the job posting(s) will be forwarded to the President of the Local.
- 26.03 The postings shall be for a minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days and the postings shall indicate the closing date. The designated posting areas will be the bulletin boards in the locations specified in Article 6.
- 26.04 The posting notice shall contain the requirements and the salary of the job opportunity. In this Article, "requirements" means qualifications (including license, certification or trades tickets) skills, abilities and experience.
- 26.05 The requirements contained in the posting shall be fair and reasonable in relation to the job opportunity.
- 26.06 The poster shall be forwarded to the Union prior to posting.
- 26.07 (a) All employees who apply for a job opportunity shall be considered to be candidates in the selection process.

- (b) The candidates for the job opportunities will be evaluated according to the posted requirements. In filling the job opportunity, the position shall be awarded based on the requirements. Where the candidates are equal according to the requirements, the candidate with the greater seniority will receive the offer.
- (c) Where an external search is carried out in accordance with

 Article 26.02, and where the candidates are found to be equal
 according to the requirements, the Employer shall be entitled
 to hire the candidate from the Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation in
 preference to any others.
- 26.08 Employees who participate in a selection process for a position with the Employer will be provided time with pay for the period during which their presence is required for purposes of the selection process including a post-board interview.
- 26.09 Candidates shall be advised in writing of the result of the competition and the name of the successful candidate will be posted.
- 26.10 Unsuccessful candidates may request a post board interview for feedback. Post board feedback will be normally provided by one or more board members within two weeks of the issuance of the results. The post board interview will answer why an employee was not considered or chosen for the job. If required, suggestions for further assistance on interviewing techniques will be provided.

26.11 Trial Period

- (a) All promotions and voluntary transfers are subject to a ninety (90) calendar day trial period.
- (b) Conditional upon satisfactory performance, an employee shall be appointed to the position after the trial period.
- (c) During the trial period, if the employee proves to be unsatisfactory in the new position or if the employee wishes to revert to their former position, the employee shall be returned to either their former position, or an equivalent position and rate of pay without loss of seniority. Any other employee who has been promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions may also be returned to their former position and rate of pay without loss of seniority.

ARTICLE 27

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 27.01 The Employer and the Union agree that discussions should occur between employee(s), Union representatives and the Employer representative when problems or differences arise in an attempt to resolve problems and differences. This grievance procedure is not intended to preclude any discussion between employees, Union representatives and Employer representatives where discussions relating to problems or differences occur, the time limits in the complaint step will be extended by the appropriate number of days.
- 27.02 If any difference concerning the interpretation, application, operation or any alleged violation of the Agreement arises between the Employer and/or the Union, or between the Employee(s) and the Employer, it shall be processed according to the following grievance procedure. Nothing in this provision deprives employee(s) of any rights or remedies to which they are entitled in any legislation including the transfer legislation. Grievances involving the interpretation, application, operation or any alleged violation of the agreement must have the approval and support of the bargaining agent.
- 27.03 The time limits set out in the grievance procedure are mandatory and not directory. In calculating time limits, Saturdays, Sundays and holidays shall be excluded. In the case of employees working in operations where the days of rest are other than Saturdays and Sundays, then their days of rest shall be excluded. If the time limits set out in the complaint step, Step 2, or Step 3 of the grievance procedure are not complied with, then the grievance will be considered as being abandoned, unless the parties have mutually agreed, in writing, to extend the time limits.
- 27.04 Employees shall have the right to be represented by the Union at any step of the grievance procedure. The employee(s) and the Union representative(s) shall be given leave with pay to attend such meetings. At either the Complaint Step or Step 2, the Employer representative may be assisted by a Human Resources Representative. The Union shall be given full opportunity to present evidence and make representations throughout the grievance procedure.
- 27.05 If the Employer fails to meet a time limit, the Union, at its option, may either advance the grievance to the next step or await the Employer's response, in which case no time limit shall apply against the Union until it has received the Employer's response.
- 27.06 The employee(s) shall be advised by the Employer of their right to have a union representative present at any disciplinary meeting or at any meeting held with bargaining unit employee(s) to investigate alleged misconduct of the employee(s).

Steps of the Grievance Procedure

Complaint:

Within twenty five (25) days of the employee(s) becoming aware of the matter giving rise to the complaint, the employee(s) and or the Union may submit a written complaint to the Employer representative.

Within ten (10) days of the receipt of the complaint the Employer representative shall meet and provide a written response to the employee(s) and the Union representative.

In calculating the twenty five (25) day period referred to above only days during which the employee(s) is actively at work shall be counted. Where an employee(s) commences a leave period during the then twenty five (25) day period, calculation of the time in which the employee(s) has submitted the complaint will be suspended. Upon return to work the employee shall have the balance of twenty five (25) day period as calculated above in which to submit the complaint.

Step 2:

If a satisfactory settlement has not been obtained under the complaint, employee(s) and or the Union representative may within ten (10) working days of the receipt of the Employer's decision under the Complaint Step render a grievance in writing, including the redress requested, to the Employer representative designated as Step 2 with a copy to Human Resources. This designated Employer representative shall call a meeting and render a decision within ten (10) working days of the receipt of the grievance.

Step 3 - Arbitration:

If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled under Step Two (2), then the grievance may be referred to arbitration, within twenty five (25) days of the expiry of the time limits set out in Step Two (2).

- (a) The Parties agree that a single Arbitrator shall be used as provided for under the Canada Labour Code. The Employer and the Union shall make every effort to agree on the selection of the Arbitrator within (10) days after the party requesting arbitration has delivered written notice of submission of the dispute to arbitration.
- (b) In the event that the parties fail to agree on the choice of an arbitrator, they shall forthwith request the Minister of Labour to appoint an arbitrator.

- (c) The arbitrator shall have all the powers vested in it by the Canada Labour Code, including, in the case of discharge or discipline, the power to substitute for the discharge or discipline such other penalties that the arbitrator deems just and reasonable in the circumstances, including compensation for lost income and benefits. The Arbitrator shall render their award within a reasonable period, as agreed to by the parties.
- (d) The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on both parties.
- (e) Each party shall bear one-half (1/2) the cost of the arbitrator.
- (f) The Arbitrator shall not change, modify or alter any terms of this agreement.

Expedited Arbitration

The parties agree that, by mutual consent only, any grievance may be referred to the following expedited arbitration procedure.

Procedure

- (a) Grievances referred to expedited arbitration must be scheduled to be heard within ninety (90) days from the date of referral, unless the hearing is delayed by mutual agreement between the Parties or by the Arbitrator;
- (b) The Parties shall make every reasonable attempt to proceed by admission and minimize the use of witnesses;
- (c) Whenever possible, the Arbitrator shall deliver the decision orally at the conclusion of the hearing, giving a brief resume of the reasons for the decision and then confirm these conclusions in writing within ten (10) working days of the date of the hearing;
- (d) When it is not possible to give an oral decision at the conclusion of the hearing, the Arbitrator shall render it in writing with a brief resume of the reasons. The Arbitrator must render the written decision as soon as possible but at all times within ten (10) working days of the date of the hearing;
- (e) The decision of the Arbitrator shall not constitute a precedent;
- (f) Such decisions may not be used to alter, modify or amend any part of the Collective Agreement, nor should any decision be incompatible with the provisions of the Collective Agreement;

- (g) Such decisions from the expedited format shall be final and binding upon the parties;
- (h) The Arbitrator shall be chosen by mutual agreement between the parties.

ARTICLE 28

HOURS OF WORK, INCLUDING REST PERIODS, MEAL PERIODS AND DAYS OF REST

- 28.01 The Employer shall schedule the hours of work and establish shift schedules for all employees.
- 28.02 The Employer shall post the schedule in locations specified in Article 6.01 which shall remain in effect for a period of not less than one (1) month. Working schedules shall be posted at least fifteen (15) working days in advance of the starting date of the new schedule.

28.03 All Employees will work up to:

- (a) Thirty-seven and one half (37.5) hours per week, five (5) consecutive days per week consisting of consecutive hours per day exclusive of a one hour lunch period, scheduled from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday to Friday inclusive with Saturday and Sunday as scheduled days of rest. Summer hours will be 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.
- (b) It is recognized that some employees may because of their work be scheduled at times other than those instances in Article 28.03(a), however, in no instance shall their hours of work exceed thirty-seven and one half (37.5) hours per week.
- (c) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) the hours of work for employees in the departments of police, fisheries, silviculture and home care community will be up to forty (40) hours per week.
- (d) Teacher aides, special needs attendants, education workers will work the same schedule and hours of work as those set out in Appendix "A" (Education/Teacher)
- (e) Extra hours in any particular classification will first be offered according to seniority to those employees who work less than those hours as set out in paragraph (a), (b), (c) and (d).

28.04 Upon request of an employee and with the concurrence of the Employer, an employee may work flexible hours on a daily basis. The implementation of any variation in hours shall not result in any additional overtime.

28.05 Rest and Meal Periods

- (a) The Employer will provide two (2) rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes each per full working day, with one in the morning and one in the afternoon, except in exceptional circumstances where operational requirements do not permit. In such cases the Employer and the employee shall agree on an alternative rest period.
- (b) The meal period shall be normally of a duration of one hour. Alternate duration's are possible, upon mutual consent of the Employer and the employee.
- (c) It is recognized that at certain times, operations may require employees to remain on the job for the full seven and one half (7.5) hour work day. In these cases such employees will make the request within the week the extra time is worked and the employee will be given equivalent time off at a time agreed to between the Employer and the employee.

ARTICLE 29

OVERTIME

- 29.01 Subject to operational requirements, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to avoid excessive overtime and to allocate overtime on equitable basis among readily available qualified Employers.
- 29.02 Except in cards of emergency, call back or mutual agreement with the employee, the Employer shall give as much notice as possible, but no less than two (2) hours notice of any requirement for overtime work.
- 29.03 Overtime shall be compensated on the following basis:
 - time and one-half (1 ½) for each hour worked in excess of the employee's scheduled daily hours;
 - (b) an employee who reports for work as directed on a day of rest shall be paid for the time actually worked, or a minimum of three (3) hours pay.

29.04 Overtime shall be:

(a) compensated in equivalent time off with pay;

(b) the Employer shall grant compensatory leave with pay at times convenient to the employee and the Employer.

ARTICLE 30

REPORTING, CALL-BACK AND STANDBY PAY

- 30.01 An employee who reports for work on his/her scheduled working day shall be paid for the time actually worked, or a minimum of three (3) hours pay at straight time, whichever is the greater.
- 30.02 If an employee is required to work or is called back to work and returns to work:
 - (a) on a designated paid holiday which is not the employee's scheduled day of work, or
 - (b) on the employee's day of rest, or
 - (c) after the employee has completed their regularly scheduled work day and has left their place of work, or
 - (d) from standby duty,

the employee shall be paid the greater of:

- (i) the minimum of three (3) hours pay at the applicable overtime rate, or
- (ii) compensation at the applicable overtime rate for time worked.
- 30.03 An employee designated by letter or by list for stand-by duty shall be available during their period of stand-by at a known telephone number and be available to return for duty as quickly as possible if called. In designating employees for stand-by, the Employer will endeavor to provide for the equitable distribution of stand-by duties.
- 30.04 The Employer agrees that in the areas and in the circumstances where electronic paging devices are both practicable and efficient they will be provided without cost to those employees on standby duty.
- 30.05 When an employee is called back to work and is required to use transportation services other than normal public transportation, they shall be reimbursed transportation costs in accordance with the provisions of the Employer's Travel Directive (as set out in Article 23 Travel Time, Scheduling & Expenses).

ARTICLE 31

WASH - UP TIME

31.01 Where due to the nature of work there is a need, wash up time will be permitted at the direction of the Employer.

ARTICLE 32

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIP, REGISTRATION AND LICENCE FEES

32.01 The Employer shall reimburse an employee for their payment of membership, professional dues/fees, liability insurance, and registration fees (not including driver's licenses) to an organization or governing body when the maintenance of such membership, professional dues or fees is a requirement of the performance of the duties of their position as required by the Employer.

ARTICLE 33

JOINT-UNION MANAGEMENT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE

- 33.01 The parties acknowledge the mutual benefits to be derived from joint consultation and are prepared to enter into discussions aimed at the development and introduction of appropriate processes for the purpose of providing joint consultation on matters of common interest.
- 33.02 Upon request of either party, the parties to this agreement shall consult meaningfully and constructively at the appropriate level about contemplated changes in conditions and employment or working conditions not covered by this agreement.
- 33.03 The Employer agrees to give the Union reasonable opportunity to consider and to consult meaningfully and constructively prior to introducing new or changing policies affecting conditions of employment or working conditions not governed by the Agreement.
- 33.04 The Committee shall not have jurisdiction over any matter of collective bargaining or the administration of the Agreement. The Committee shall not have the power to bind either the Union, the employees or the Council to any conclusions reached in their discussions.
- 33.05 The Employer will grant leave without loss of pay to employees attending joint consultation meetings.

33.06 This Committee shall alternate the chair between representatives of the Alliance and management at each meeting.

ARTICLE 34

AGREEMENT RE-OPENER

34.01 This agreement may be amended by mutual consent.

ARTICLE 35

EDUCATION LEAVE AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT LEAVE

- 35.01 The Employer recognizes the usefulness of education leave and will provide an equitable distribution of such opportunities. Upon written application by the employee and with the approval of the Employer, an employee may be granted education leave without pay for varying periods of up to one (1) year, which can be renewed by mutual agreement, to attend a recognized institution for studies in some field of education in which preparation is needed to fill the employee's present role more adequately or to undertake studies in some field in order to provide a service which the Employer requires or is planning to provide.
- 35.02 At the Employer's discretion, an employee on education leave without pay under this article may receive an allowance in lieu of salary of up to 100% of the employee's annual rate of pay, depending on the degree to which the education leave is deemed, by the Employer, to be relevant to the organizational requirements. Where the employee receives a grant, bursary or scholarship, the education leave allowance may be reduced by an amount no greater than the grant, bursary or scholarship.
- 35.03 Allowances already being received by the employee may at the discretion of the Employer be continued during the period of the education leave. The employee shall be notified when the leave is approved whether such allowances are continued in whole or in part.
- 35.04 As a condition of the granting of education leave without pay, an employee shall, if required, give a written undertaking prior to the commencement of the leave to return to the services of the Employer for a period of not less than the period of the leave granted.
 - (a) If the employee (except with the permission of the Employer) fails to complete the course; or

- (b) does not resume employment with the Employer on completion of the course; or;
- (c) ceases to be employed except by reason of death or layoff, before termination of the period they have undertaken to serve after completion of the course, the employee shall repay the Employer all allowances, or; such lesser sum as shall be determined by the Employer paid to them under this article during the education leave.
- 35.05 (a) Career development refers to an activity which is likely to be of assistance to the individual in furthering his or her career development and to the organization in achieving its goals. The following activities shall be deemed to be part of career developments.
 - i) a course given by the Employer;
 - ii) a course offered by a recognized academic institution:
 - iii) seminar, convention or study session or professional development, teacher/subject council meeting in a specialized field directly related to the employee's work;
 - iv) upon request of an employee, tuition or fees associated/incurred as above may be paid by the Employer.
 - (b) Upon written application from the employee, and with the approval of the Employer, career development leave with pay may be given for any one of the activities described in sub-clause 35.05 (a) above.
- 35.06 Examination leave with pay will be granted to an employee for the purpose of writing an examination that takes place during the employee's scheduled hours of work.

ARTICLE 36

TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- 36.01 In this Article "Technological Change" means:
 - (a) the introduction by the Employer of equipment or material of a different nature than that previously utilized; or
 - (b) a change in the Employer's operation directly related to the introduction of that equipment or material.

- 1) Both parties recognize the overall advantages of technological change and will, therefore, encourage and promote technological change in the Employer's operations. Where technological change is to be implemented, the Employer will seek ways and means of minimizing adverse effects on employees which might result from such changes.
- The Employer agrees to provide as much advance notice as is practicable but, except in cases of emergency, not less than one hundred eighty (180) days written notice to the Alliance of the introduction or implementation of technological change when it will result in significant changes in the employment status or working conditions of the employees.
- 3) The written notice herein will provide the following information:
 - (a) the nature of the technological change,
 - (b) the date(s) upon which the Employer proposes to effect the technological change,
 - (c) the approximate number, type, and location of employees likely to be affected by the change,
 - (d) the effect that the technological change is likely to have on the terms and conditions or security of employment of the employee affected,
 - (e) all pertinent data relating to the anticipated effects on employees.
- 36.02 Once the Employer has given the Union the notice described in 36.01(b)2 the Employer shall, on the request of the Union, provide a statement in writing setting out:
 - (a) a detailed description of the nature of the proposed technological change;
 - (b) the names of those employees who will initially be likely to be affected by the proposed technological change; and,
 - (c) the rationale for the change.
- 36.03 During the notice period described in Article 36.01(b)2 the parties undertake to meet and hold constructive and meaningful joint consultations in an effort to reach agreement or solutions to the problems or implications occurring out of technological change. Where such consultations involve technological change

- that is likely to affect security of employment, the change shall not be introduced until the parties have reached agreement or the matter is resolved by arbitration.
- 36.04 When, as a result of technological change, the Employer determines that an employee requires new skills or knowledge in order to perform the duties of the employee's substantive position, the Employer shall provide the necessary training during the employee's working hours without loss of pay and at no cost to the employee.

ARTICLE 37

JOB DESCRIPTIONS

37.01 Upon written request, an employee shall be given a complete and current statement of the duties and responsibilities of their position. When an employee is hired or re-assigned to another position in the Bargaining Unit, the Employer shall provide the employee with a current and accurate written statement of the duties of the position to which they are assigned.

ARTICLE 38

GROUP BENEFIT PLANS

- 38.01 The Employer agrees to continue the current group benefit plan for employees of Burnt Church First Nation's including the current percentage (%) contributions and further agrees not to amend the plan or premium percentage cost sharing unless mutually agreed.
- 38.02 The actual text of the Health and Benefit Plan documents registered with the regulatory authorities shall govern in all situations requiring clarification or interpretation of the terms of the plan(s).

The provisions of this plan are contained in contract No.:

- (1) GA 10106-1-RPP Pension Plan Clarica dated January 1st, 2001;
- (2) 17615-G Sun Life Financial Life Insurance AD&D Dependent Life Long term Disability
- (3) 007428-000 Blue Cross

The Employer is responsible for the administration of the above plans.

38.03 Grievances in regard to the above plans shall be filed in accordance with Article

27 of this Collective Agreement.

38.04 The terms of the pension plan are subject to the Federal Pension Standard Act (PBSA)

ARTICLE 39

MODIFIED DUTIES

- 39.01 When an employee is unable to perform their regular job due to non occupational / accident or illness, the Employer and the Union agree to work together to find suitable alternative work for the employee within the Bargaining Unit.
- 39.02 A modified transitional work program shall be jointly established and maintained to assist in accommodating all employees with occupationally and non-occupationally related disabilities.

ARTICLE 40

DURATION AND RENEWAL

- 40.01 The terms of this Agreement shall be from October 25, 2003 to March 31, 2009. The wage schedules contained in Appendices A, B, C, D and E are hereby incorporated into the Collective Agreement and take effect on the dates specified. All changes agreed to become effective on April 1, 2008 except for the five hundred dollar (\$500.00) signing bonus which will be effective on the date of ratification.
- 40.02 Where notice to amend this Agreement is given under Article 40.03, the provisions of this Collective Agreement shall remain in effect during negotiations for its renewal until a new agreement becomes effective.

40.03 Notice to Bargain

Within four (4) months preceding the expiry of this Agreement either party may by written notice require the other party to commence bargaining. Negotiations shall commence within sixty (60) days of such notice unless mutually agreed to by the parties.

This agreement will be binding upon not only the parties hereto mentioned but also their respective successors.

ARTICLE 41

RETROACTIVE SALARY PAYMENTS

- 41.01 For the purpose of this clause, "retroactive period" means the period commencing on the effective date of the retroactive upward revision in rates of pay and ending on March 31, 2002.
- **41.02** A retroactive upward revision in rates of pay shall apply to employee's, former employees or in the case of death, the estates of former employees who were employees identified in Article **4** of the Collective Agreement.
- 41.03 Rates of pay shall be paid in an amount equal to what would have been paid had this agreement been signed on the effective date of the revision in rates of pay.
- 41.04 The Employer shall calculate the total value of each employee's retroactive salary payment for the entire retroactive period and inform each employee in writing of the total value of such payment, including the calculations, on or before September 30th, 2002.
- 41.05 Each employee will receive the total value of his or her retroactive salary payments referred to in (d) in four (4) equal yearly installments, paid the 1st of April each year, commencing April 1, 2003.

SIGNED AT Esgenoûpetiti this 25th day of April, 2008

Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government
Wilber Dedam (Chief)
Clark Dedam
Rhonda Somerville
Nina Somerville
aled)
Alex Dedam Ashley Dedam
Harold Doherty

Public Service Alliance of Canada

LETTER OF UNDERTANDING #1

between

BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT

and

THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA

Within one (1) year after signing the Collective Agreement the parties agree to meet and jointly develop an Employee Performance Review System applicable to all positions within the bargaining unit. The joint development of this system shall be completed within eighteen (18) months of the signing of the Collective Agreement.

The provisions *of* such a system will include but will not necessarily be limited to, the evaluation form, the written instructions which will be utilized in the review, the steps *of* the review process and the implementation date of the system.

This Letter of Understanding will be deemed to be part of the Collective Agreement.

Date:	
Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj) First Nation Government	
The Public Service Alliance of Canada	

LETTER OF UNDERTANDING #2

between

BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT

and

THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA

The parties recognize and support the principle of equal pay for work of equal value:

Within 90 days of ratification of the Collective Agreement, the parties agree to meet and commence the joint development of a job evaluation plan applicable to all members of the bargaining unit. The effective date of the plan shall coincide with the effective date of the current Collective Agreement.

Committee Composition

The committee shall consist of a maximum of six members, divided equally between both parties; a quorum shall consist of four members (two (2) employees and two (2) union representatives). The committee may, at it's discretion, select a consulting firm to assist in the development of the plan, under the committees direction. The consulting firm must have a proven record in meeting pay equity requirements.

Objectives

The committee shall select, develop or adapt a job evaluation plan which is consistent with sound classification principles and which meets the requirements of section 11 of the Canadian Human Rights Act as well as the Equal Wage guidelines, 1986. The plan shall be gender neutral and universal in application.

Mandate

The committee shall develop a communication plan to ensure employees are familiar with the process regarding the selection, adaptation or development of a new job evaluation plan; and that employees are provided training with respect to completing job questionnaires, writing job descriptions and sensitivity to gender bias issues.

The committee shall jointly agree on the process to be followed in developing the plan as well as on all of its elements, including but not limited to:

- (a) factors and definitions:
- (b) factor degree definitions;
- (c) factor weights;

- (d) point, distribution within factors;
- (e) selection and evaluation of bench mark positions;
- (f) point-cut-off and the number of levels within the plan.

The committee shall have access to all relevant documentation including complete and up-to-date job descriptions and organization charts.

Remuneration of committee members

Members of the bargaining unit serving on the committee shall be provided with time off from their regular duties to prepare for committee work and to participate on the committee. They shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of the collective agreement and receive all applicable benefits, as though they were performing their regular duties.

Job Evaluation

All positions within the bargaining unit including all bench mark positions, shall be evaluated by the joint committee referred to under "committee composition". Disagreements between the parties regarding the evaluation of a position shall be referred to a jointly agreed upon neutral third party who shall render a final and binding decision. The number of levels in the new job evaluation plan shall serve as the framework for collective bargaining.

Dispute Resolution

Any disagreement arising from the implementation of this Letter of Understanding may be referred to a jointly agreed upon neutral third party. Employees who feel aggrieved as a result of the evaluation of their position by the joint committee may file a grievance within twenty-five (25) working days of being notified of the evaluation. Employees who disagree with the contents of their job description/questionnaire/or fact sheet may file a grievance within twenty-five (25) working days, calculated from the day on which they receive the document. An employee has the right to be represented by the union throughout the grievance process. Such grievances shall be responded to within sixty (60) working days, unless an extensions is agreed upon by both parties. Grievances shall be heard by the Employer and failing a satisfactory resolution, may be referred to arbitration.

Conversion

Rules of conversion respecting pay and all related matters shall be negotiated between both parties, beginning no later than sixty (60) days following the completion of the evaluation of all positions. Notwithstanding these negotiations, the rate of pay of an employee shall be adjusted to include any retroactive equal pay settlement agreed to by the Employer in respect of any period prior to the effective conversion date.

Date:	
Burnt Church (Esgenoôpetitj)	
First Nation Government	
The Public Service Alliance of Canada	

LETTER OF UNDERTANDING #3

<u>between</u>

BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT

and

THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA

Letter of Understanding between the Esgenoôpetitj First Nation Government and the Public Service Alliance of Canada concerning the joint development of a Workplace Harassment Policy.

Whereas it is in the interest of all parties to ensure a workplace that is free of harassment of all kinds, personal, physical and/or sexual, therefore the Esgenoôpetiti First Nation Government and the Public Service Alliance of Canada agree that they will meet regularly to jointly establish a workplace harassment policy as soon as possible.

LETTER OF UNDERTANDING#4

between

BURNT CHURCH (ESGENOÔPETITJ) FIRST NATION GOVERNMENT

and

THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA

<u>Letter of Understanding between the Esgenoôpetitj First Nation Government and the Public Service Alliance of Canada concerning the joint development of a Classification System.</u>

The Esgenoôpetiti First Nation Government and the Public Service Alliance of Canada agree that they will meet to jointly establish a Classification study to be completed by March 31, 2009.

SCHEDULE "A"

EDUCATION/TEACHER

1. Hours of Instruction

The number of hours of instruction exclusive of noon shall be:

- (a) For the first three (3) years of the elementary school (including Kindergarten) minimum four (4) hours, maximum four and one-half (4 ½) hours:
- (b) For the remaining years of elementary school and middle school hours of instruction shall be a minimum of five (5) hours to a maximum of five and one-half (5 ½) hours.
- (c) For the high school years shall be a minimum of five and one-half (5 1/2) hours to a maximum of six (6) hours.
- (d) The teachers recognize that their responsibility to their pupils and their profession require the performance of duties that may involve time beyond the hours of instruction described above.

2. Preparation Period

Where local circumstances permits, teachers shall be allowed, within the hours of instruction during which teachers are required to teach and students are required to remain in class, a minimum of one preparation per day not less than thirty-five (35) minutes per day or an equivalent amount of preparation time based on a longer time period.

Teaching Principals of schools of eight (8) or more teachers and all Vice-Principals shall be allowed, in addition to the preparation period specified in the above paragraph, at least one period per day or an equivalent amount of time based on a longer time period to carry out the duties associated with their position.

3. Length of the School Year

(a) The school year shall begin on the first day of September and end on the 31st day of August.

- (b) The total number of teaching days in a school year shall not exceed one hundred and ninety-five (195) days. The total number of one hundred and ninety-five (195) teaching days shall include if applicable;
 - i) days during which the school, in which the teacher is regularly employed with, closed due to inclement weather;
 - i) days during which school was closed by Employer;
 - iii) days during which school was closed by Medical Health authorities; and
- (c) When a school is closed pursuant to i) to ii) the teachers in the school are not required to be in attendance.
- (d) When a school is closed pursuant to clause iii), the teachers in that school are not required to be in attendance unless circumstances necessitated the temporary transfer of the students of that school to another facility in which case, the teachers may be required to attend at that facility.

4. Emergencies

- (a) Teachers will be given at least one day to set up classrooms in the case of moving to another facility.
- (b) In a case of fire, flood or other emergencies in the existing building, teachers will be given required time to clean-up and re-establish the classroom.

Class Size

- a) i) Whenever reasonably practicable the normal class size shall be thirty (30) pupils. No class size shall exceed thirty-three (33) pupils.
 - ii) Notwithstanding Clause (i), the maximum class size for grades 4-6 inclusive shall be thirty-two (32) pupils; however, if unforeseen circumstances arise, the maximum class size may be increased to thirty-three (33) pupils.
 - iii) Notwithstanding Clause (i), classes exceeding thirty-three (33) pupils shall be allowed when formed by the grouping of other classes for team teaching or similar purposes. The Employer agrees that the application of Clause (iii) is subject to the modifications outlined in Clauses (ii), (iv), (v) and (vi).

- iv) Notwithstanding Clause (i), it is agreed that the maximum class size for Grades 1 and 2 shall be twenty-five (25) pupils.
- V) Notwithstanding Clause (i), the maximum class size for Grade 3 Grade 8 shall be thirty (30) pupils: however, if unforeseen circumstances arise, the maximum class size may be increased to thirty-one (31) pupils.
- vi) The maximum class size for kindergarten shall be twenty-five (25) pupils.
- b) Where possible and as determined by the Employer, nursery, kindergarten and grade one may be provided with teachers-aides.
- c) If necessary to combine two (2) grades with one teacher the maximum class size will be as follows:
 - (1) grades 1-3 = twenty-four (24) students
 - (2) grades 3-5 = twenty-seven (27) students
 - (3) grades 5-8 = twenty-eight (28) students

6. Replacement of Absent Teachers

The Employer will make a reasonable effort to ensure that supply teachers are made available to replace absent teachers. A teacher may agree or may refuse to replace an absent teacher.

If, during the hours of instruction, an emergency situation arises which would result in a class being unattended by a teacher, the Employer may require a teacher to replace the absent teacher until the arrival of a supply teacher. If a teacher is required to replace an absent teacher pursuant to this clause, the teacher must be informed as soon as practicable of the circumstances justifying such requirement.

7. Non-Teaching Duties

- (a) Non-teaching duties shall be kept to a minimum and evenly distributed amongst all staff.
- (b) Teachers shall be entitled to a duty-free lunch period of at least sixty (60) minutes.
- (c) Teachers on duty shall be entitled to a lunch period of at least thirty (30) minutes.

8. Solicitation of Funds

Any solicitation of funds, or sale, or distribution of materials for the benefits of outside organizations, and collection of monies shall not be the responsibility of teachers. Teachers may agree with the Director of Education the extent to which they shall cooperate in the solicitation of funds, or sale or distribution of materials for the benefit of outside organizations.

9. Extra-Curricular Activities

Teachers participation in extra-curricular activities shall be voluntary

10. Stenographic and Clerical Assistance

Stenographic and clerical assistance may be made available to all teachers.

11. Auxiliary Personnel

- (a) Auxiliary personnel are those persons who assist teachers by performing some of the non-professional functions carried out by teachers. Such personnel could, for example provide assistance in classroom, libraries, or assist in supervising halls, lunch rooms, cafeterias, playgrounds or loading and unloading of buses. Auxiliary personnel are not limited to the above forms of assistance; however, no time shall they perform any professional functions such as: planning, diagnosing, instructing, prescribing and evaluation.
- (b) Auxiliary personnel may under no circumstances be used as replacement for licensed teachers.
- (c) Auxiliary personnel shall be assigned to a school only after consultation with the principal and shall work under the supervision and direction of the professional staff of the school.
- (d) Auxiliary personnel shall not be assigned specifically to one or more teachers without **consulting** the teachers concerned.

12. Leave of Absence for Professional Activities

(a) Teachers shall be allowed up to a maximum of eight days per year to participate in professional development activities, subject council, administration related to the opening and closing of school and parent/teacher interviews. These eight days are included in the one hundred ninety-five (195) day school calendar.

- (b) The Employer shall allow up to one (1) day per school year, if required, for the purpose of receiving a degree or diploma.
- (c) No teacher shall experience a loss of salary, sick leave benefits or pension benefits due to a leave of absence under this Article.

13. Educational Leave

- (a) Every teacher who has been employed as a teacher at Burnt Church First Nation for ten (10) years may, subject to the availability of funds, be eligible for education leave up to one (1) year with seventy (70%) percent of the salary which he/she would have received has he/she been employed during the period of educational leave in the position which he/she held at the time his/her application was made.
- (b) The Educational Leave Committee shall consist of one representative of the local PSAC, the Principal or one representative of the teaching staff (excluding applicants), the Director of Education, a representative of the Band Council and a New Brunswick local school district representative. The Educational Leave Committee shall be responsible for administrating, granting and canceling educational leave.
- (c) A teacher granted educational leave shall, on returning to his/her school be entitled to the same position he/she occupied prior to being granted the educational leave. If this position no longer exists, the teacher shall be entitled to an equivalent position. This clause is not intended to provide greater privileges or benefits than those which would have been employed had the teacher not been granted the educational leave.

14. Improvement in certification

- (a) A teacher shall notify in writing to the Director of Education of any changes of certification by September of each year.
- (b) Payment of retroactive salary due to this Article shall be made no later than ninety (90) days after an increase in salary scale or the Director has received from the teacher concerned the certificate stating the change in the teachers certification.

15. Recognition of Experience for Salary Purposes

Full recognition of experience for salary purposes shall be granted to a person who:

(a) taught in the public schools of Canada, or elsewhere while licensed or eligible to be licensed in New Brunswick; or

- (b) taught in the public schools of Canada although unlicensed and ineligible to be licensed during the period of employment, but becomes licensed in New Brunswick; or
- (c) was licensed and taught as a supply teacher in the public schools of new Brunswick; or
- (d) was granted a leave of absence for educational purposes with or without pay; or
- (e) recognition of one-half of a person's experience for salary purposes shall be granted to an employee who:
 - (i) taught in a private school in Canada while licensed or eligible to be licensed in New Brunswick.

16. Hours of Work and Work Year

Subject to paragraph 3 (b), the working day of a teacher working a school year shall be the same as that designated by the province of New Brunswick. The teacher shall be entitled to Christmas break, March break and summer break as observed by the New Brunswick local school district.

APPENDIX "A"

FROM = EXISTING **RATES** OF PAY (Weekly)
(A) EFFECTIVE April 1, 2009 ~ ECONOMIC INCREASE OF 5%

EDUCATION

Teacher Aide

From: 455.25 to 458.59 **To:** A 478.01 *to* 481.52

Special Needs Attendant

From: 403.83 *to* 455.90 To: A 424.02 To 478.70

Secretary/Administrative Assistant

From: 599.38 To: A 629.35

Janitor

From: 409.69 to 534.99 To: A 430.17 to 561.74

Bus Driver

From: 450.24 To: A 472.75

Native Education Counselor

From: 614.11 to 925.08 To: A 644.82 to 971.33

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

Social Assistance Officer

From: 589.12 To: A 618.58

Welfare Clerk

From: 556.87 To: A 584.71

Secretary

From: 393.93 To: A 413.63

PUBLIC WORKS / INFRA-STRUCTURE

Sanitation Worker

From: 688.20 To: A 722.61

Water and Sewer Maintenance

From: 393.93 To: A 413.63

Housing Manager

From: 675.31 To: A 709.08

Police Constable

From: 638.32 To: A 670.24

Fire Chief

From: 506.48 To: A 531.80

Fishery Guardian

From: 585.27 To: A 614.53

Fishery Trap Net Operator

From: 450.20 To: A 472.71

Fishery Trap Net Supervisor

From: 619.04 To: A 649.99

Silviculture Supervisor

From: 534.62 To: A 561.35

Silviculture Worker

From: 450.20 To: A 472.71

Fishery Officer

From: 900.41 To: A 945.43

Fishery Monitor

From: 450.20 To: A 472.71

Forestry Coordinator

From: 585.27 To: A 614.53

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Financial Clerk

From: 623.93 To: A 655.13

Administrative Clerk

From: 533.50 To: A 560.18

Community Health Representative

From: 534.62 to 702.81 To: A 561.35 to 737.95

Medical Transportation Coordinator

From: 707.87 To: A 743.26

Brighter Futures Coordinator

From: 655.14 To: A 687.90

Receptionist

From: 393.93 To: A 413.63

Alcohol and Drug Counselor

From: 534.62 To: A 561.35

Alcohol and Drug Youth Counselor

From: 534.62 To: A 561.35

Home / Community Care Coordinator

From: 759.72 To: A 797.71

Home / Community Care Worker

From: 409.69 To: A 430.17

Janitor

From: 365.78 To: A 384.07

ABORIGINAL HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

Project Coordinator

From: 675.31 To: A 709.08

Administrative Assistant

From: 478.34 To: A 502.26

Employment Counselor

From: 590.89 To: A 620.43

ADMINISTRATION

Accounts Payable Manager / Payroll Clerk

From: 1307.33 To: A 1372.70

Administrative Assistant

From: 707.87 **To:** A 743.26

Accounting Clerk

From: 675.31 To: A 709.08

Bookkeeper

From: 562.92 To: A 591.07

Economic Development Officer

From: 517.81 **To:** A 543.70

Janitor

From: 311.26 to 501.87 To: A 326.82 to 526.96

Receptionist Clerk

From: 436.75 To: A 458.59

Secretary

From: 393.93 To: A 413.63

Membership Clerk

From: 181.77 (2 days per week)

To: A 190.86

Security

From: 501.87 **To:** A 526.96

CHILD AND FAMILY AND COMMUNITY SERVICES

Secretary

From: 422.07 To: A 443.17

Paraprofessional Social Worker

From: 455.03 To: A 477.78

Daycare Supervisor - Headstart

From: 890.61 To: A 935.14

Daycare Worker - Headstart

From: 633.03 To: A 664.68

Daycare Supervisor - MAWIW

From: 723.41 To: A 759.58

Daycare Worker - MAWIW

From: 480.59 To: A 504.62

Cook PIT - Headstart

From: 262.04 To: A 275.14

Cook / Janitor - MAWIW

From: 366.92 To: A 385.27

APPENDIX "B"

SALARY TEACHERS

Effective April 1, 2008, the parties agree to implement the salary schedule(s) and certification level(s) as set out in the New Brunswick Provincial Teachers Federation as hereto:

Where the provincial rate is lower than the employee's existing wage rate, Article 22.05 Pay Administration - red circling will apply.

SALARY SCHEDULE -SEPTEMBER 1, 2007 TO FEBRUARY 29, 2008 FFFFCTIVE: APRIL 1, 2008

			EFFECTI	VE. AFRIL	1, 2000		
Year	T.L.	CI	CII	C III	C IV	CV	C VI
1	30791	30791	30791	30791	38422	42240	46050
2		30791	30791	32699	40516	44527	48536
3		30791	30791	34602	42629	46817	51015
4		30791	32699	36516	44717	49104	53505
5		30791	34602	38422	46817	51399	55977
6		32699	36516	40332	48916	53690	58453
7		34602	38422	42240	51015	55977	60926
8			40332	44150	53114	58269	63422
9				46050	55212	60561	65901
10					57312	62844	68377
11					59415	65135	70858

^{1.} Local Permit - I-VI - 60% of Teacher's License1

^{2.} Local Permit - I-VI - 85% of Certificate I-VI

APPENDIX "C"

RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES- PRINCIPALS

The parties agree to implement the responsibility allowances as set out in the New Brunswick Provincial Teacher's Federation as attached hereto.

Notwithstanding the above, where an employee is presently receiving a responsibility allowance greater than the provincial allowance, Article 22.05 - Pay Administration will apply.

Effective April 1, 2008, a principal shall receive a responsibility allowance based on the following scale:

Based on Student Enrollment on September 30th

Schools of 250 or fewer student			nools of 251 to 750 dents	Sch	Schools of 751+ students				
1	7215	1	10268	1	14085				
2	7979	2	11031	2	14847				
3	8741	3	11795	3	15612				
4	9505	4	12557	4	16373				
5	11031	5	14085	5	17900				

Note: A fluctuation of 15 students above or below the cut-off numbers shall be required before any change in category occurs.

A teacher appointed to the position of principal shall be appointed for a term of five (5) years renewable by mutual agreement. A teacher whose term is not renewed shall be entitled to return to the same position held prior to the appointment; if the position no longer exists, the teacher shall be entitled to an equivalent position. In addition, if the appointment **is** not renewed, the applicable responsibility allowance shall be payable for one year following the end of the **five-year** term.

APPENDIX "D" WAGE SCHEDULE - SOCIAL WORKERS

Effective April 1, 2008 the parties agree to implement the prevailing salary scale and certification level(s) as set out in the Collective Agreement between the New Brunswick Government Board of Management and CUPE 1418 as hereto attached (expiry date August 15, 2009.

It is understood the new rate(s) and effective date(s) negotiated between the above parties will be applied to the existing rates set out in Schedule D.

Once those parties have reached a settlement, the parties to this agreement will meet to implement the new rates.

BI-WEEKLY RATES OF PAY - EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 16, 2008

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
GROUP1	1518	1557	1599	1645	1693	1739	1786	1833	1883	1931
GROUP2	1847	1895	1943	1994	2045	2095	2144	2199	2253	2304
GROUP3	1947	1993	2042	2092	2144	2199	2253	2305	2358	2419
GROUP4	2064	2116	2162	2222	2276	2333	2393	2451	2505	2567
GROUP5	2201	2257	2309	2368	2428	2489	2549	2614	2676	2753

BI-WEEKLY RATE OF PAY - EFFECTIVE AUGUST 16, 2008

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
GROUP1	1541	1580	1623	1670	1718	1765	1813	1860	1911	1960
GROUP2	1875	1923	1972	2024	2076	2126	2176	2232	2287	2339
GROUP3	1976	2023	2073	2123	2176	2232	2287	2340	2393	2455
GROUP4	2095	2148	2194	2255	2310	2368	2429	2488	2543	2606
GROUP5	2234	2291	2344	2404	2464	2526	2587	2653	2716	2794

BI-WEEKLY RATES OF PAY - EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 16, 2009

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
GROUP1	1556	1596	1639	1687	1735	1783	1831	1879	1930	1980
GROUP2	1894	1942	1992	2044	2097	2147	2198	2254	2310	2362
GROUP3	1996	2043	2094	2144	2198	2254	2310	2363	2417	2480
GROUP4	2116	2169	2216	2278	2333	2392	2453	2513	2568	2632
GROUP5	2256	2314	2367	2428	2489	2551	2613	2680	2743	2822

BI-WEEKLY RATE OF PAY - EFFECTIVE AUGUST 16, 2009

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
GROUP1	1564	1604	1647	1695	1744	1792	1840	1888	1940	1990
GROUP2	1903	1952	2002	2054	2107	2158	2209	2265	2322	2374
GROUP3	2006	2053	2104	2155	2209	2265	2322	2375	2429	2492
GROUP4	2127	2180	2227	2289	2345	2404	2465	2526	2581	2645
GROUP5	2267	2326	2379	2440	2501	2564	2626	2693	2757	2836

Group 1 - Social Worker 1

Group 2 - Social Worker 2

Group 3 - Social Worker 3

Group 4 - Social Worker Supervisor 1

Group 5 - Social Worker 4



APPENDIX "E"

WAGE SCHEDULE - COMMUNITY HEALTH NURSES

Effective April 1, 2008 the parties agree to implement the prevailing salary schedule(s), allowances and certification level(s) as set out in the Collective Agreement between the Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat and the Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada - Health Service as hereto attached.

It is understood the new rates negotiated with PIPSC will be applied to Community Health Nurse(s).

NU - NURSING GROUP ANNUAL RATES OF PAY

(in dollars)

- \$) Effective October 1, 2002
- A) Effective October 1, 2006

COMMUNITY HEALTH NURSING

PENDING REGISTRATION

From:	\$	45786
To:	Α	51062

NU-CHN-3

From:	\$	53465	54914	56350	57795	59231	60672	
	Α		60407	61988	63578	65157	66742	68327

NU-CHN-4

From:	\$	53918	55453	56992	58530	60066	61606	63138
	Α		61001	62694	64385	66076	67770	69454

Allowances:

- (a) Specialty training course including the Primary Care Skills Program, 3 6 months \$605
- (b) Recognized specialty training course, 7 12 months \$935
- (c) (i) One academic year university leading to a certificate* in Administration, Administration and Education, Clinical Fields, Community Health,

Gerontology, Health Services, Administration I and Health Services Administration II, Mental Health, Nursing, Psychiatry, Public Health, Teaching and Supervision, Substance Abuse Prevention and Intervention or in any other related field of study approved by the Employer.

(ii)	Two c	ertificates*	each	representing one	\$2200
	acader	nic year un	iversi	ity as described in (i) above.	

(iii)	Three certificates* each representing one	\$2750
	academic year university as described in (i) above.	

6	d)	Baccalaureate degree in nursing	\$3300
- (u_J	Baccaracte degree in harsing	Ψυρου

(e)	Master's degree in nursing	\$3850
	or any other health related field of study	
	approved by the Employer.	

One (1) allowance only will be paid for the highest relevant qualification under Paragraph B.

**

In the present collective agreement 'certificate' refers to a certificate in a first cycle program that results in 30 credits (Or 10 courses) in a field of study in the province of Quebec or the equivalent in the other provinces.

